

PricewaterhouseCoopers' IFRS and corporate governance publications and tools 2008

IFRS technical publications



IFRS Manual of Accounting 2008

Provides expert practical guidance on how groups should prepare their consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS. Comprehensive publication including hundreds of worked examples, extracts from company reports and model financial statements.



Adopting IFRS – A step-by-step illustration of the transition to IFRS

Illustrates the steps involved in preparing the first IFRS financial statements. It takes into account the effect on IFRS 1 of the standards issued up to and including March 2004.



Disclosure Checklist 2007

Outlines the disclosures required by all IFRSs published up to September 2006.



Financial instruments under IFRS

High-level summary of the revised financial instruments standards issued in December 2003, updated to reflect IFRS 7 in September 2006. For existing IFRS preparers and first-time adopters.



Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies – Understanding IAS 29

2006 update (reflecting impact of IFRIC 7) of a guide for entities applying IAS 29. Provides an overview of the standard's concepts, descriptions of the procedures and an illustrative example of its application.



IFRS 3R: Impact on earnings -

the crucial Q&A for decision-makers
Guide aimed at finance directors, financial
controllers and deal-makers, providing background
to the standard, impact on the financial statements
and controls, and summary differences with
US GAAP.



IFRS for SMEs (proposals) - Pocket Guide 2007

Provides a summary of the recognition and measurement requirements in the proposed 'IFRS for Small and Medium-Sized Entities' published by the International Accounting Standards Board in February 2007.



IFRS Pocket Guide 2008

Provides a summary of the IFRS recognition and measurement requirements. Including currencies, assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses, business combinations and interim financial statements.



IFRS News

Monthly newsletter focusing on the business implications of the IASB's proposals and new standards.



IAS 39 - Achieving hedge accounting in practice

Covers in detail the practical issues in achieving hedge accounting under IAS 39. It provides answers to frequently asked questions and step-by-step illustrations of how to apply common hedging strategies.



Illustrative interim financial information

for existing preparers

Illustrative information, prepared in accordance with IAS 34, for a fictional existing IFRS preparer. Includes a disclosure checklist and IAS 34 application guidance. Reflects standards issued up to 31 March 2008.



Illustrative Consolidated Financial Statements

- Banking, 2006
- Investment funds, 2004
- Corporate. 2007 Inv
 - Investment property, 2004
- Insurance, 2006
- Realistic sets of financial statements for existing IFRS preparers in the above sectors illustrating the required disclosure and presentation.



Illustrative Interim Consolidated Financial Statements for First-time Adopters – 2005

Realistic set of interim IFRS financial statements for first-time adopters. The financial statements for the six months ended June 2005 illustrate the disclosure and presentation required by all IFRSs published up to and including December 2004.



Measurement Checklist 2006

Outlines the measurement bases required by all IFRSs published up to September 2006.



Share-based Payment – a practical guide to applying IFRS 2

Assesses the impact of the new standard, looking at the requirements and providing a step-by-step illustration of how to account for share-based payment transactions.



SIC-12 and FIN 46R - The Substance of Control

Helps those working with special purpose entities to identify the differences between US GAAP and IFRS in this area, including examples of transactions and structures that may be impacted by the guidance.



Similarities and Differences – a comparison of IFRS and US GAAP

Presents the key similarities and differences between IFRS and US GAAP, focusing on the differences commonly found in practice. It takes into account all standards published up to August 2007.



Understanding financial instruments – A guide to IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 7

Comprehensive guidance on all aspects of the requirements for financial instruments accounting. Detailed explanations illustrated through worked examples and extracts from company reports.

PRICEWATERHOUSE COOPERS @

Illustrative interim financial information for existing IFRS preparers

Global Accounting Consulting Services PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP



145 London Road Kingston-upon-Thames Surrey KT2 6SR

Tel: +44 (0) 870 777 2906 Fax: +44 (0) 870 247 1184 E-mail: info@cch.co.uk Web site: www.cch.co.uk This book has been prepared for general guidance on matters of interest only, and does not constitute professional advice. You should not act upon the information contained in this book without obtaining specific professional advice. Accordingly, to the extent permitted by law, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (and its members, employees and agents) and publisher accept no liability, and disclaim all responsibility, for the consequences of you or anyone else acting, or refraining from acting, in reliance on the information contained in this document or for any decision based on it, or for any consequential, special or similar damages even if advised of the possibility of such damages.

ISBN 978-1-84798-078-6

Printed in Great Britain.

British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data.

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

© 2008 PricewaterhouseCoopers

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in any system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise without the prior permission of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Contents

| | Page |
|---|----------|
| Introduction to IAS 34, 'Interim financial reporting' | |
| Objective and scope | |
| Content | |
| Recognition and measurement | |
| First-time adoption of IFRS | |
| Auditors' review | |
| Pro forma information | 5 |
| Illustrative interim financial information for the period ended | |
| 30 June 2008 | 7 |
| Swimodele Group – Interim financial information (unaudited) | <u>C</u> |
| Interim management report | 11 |
| Balance sheet | |
| Income statement | 13 |
| Statement of changes in equity | |
| Cash flow statement | |
| Notes to the interim financial information | 16 |
| 1 General information | |
| 2 Basis of preparation | 16 |
| 3 Accounting policies | |
| 4 Segment information | 18 |
| 5 Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets | 19 |
| 6 Share capital | 19 |
| 7 Borrowings and loans | 20 |
| 8 Retirement benefit obligations | 21 |
| 9 Provisions for other liabilities and charges | |
| 10 Operating profit | 22 |
| 11 Income taxes | 23 |
| 12 Earnings per share | 23 |
| 13 Dividends | 23 |
| 14 Discontinued operations and disposal groups | 23 |
| 15 Business combinations | 25 |
| 16 Contingent liabilities | 26 |
| 17 Related-party transactions | |
| 18 Events occurring after the balance sheet date | |
| 19 Seasonality | |
| Appendix – IFRS 8, 'Operating segments' | |
| Auditors' review report – ISRE 2410 | |
| | |
| Interim reporting disclosure checklist | 33 |

Introduction to IAS 34, 'Interim financial reporting'

Objective and scope

Although there is no requirement under IFRS for entities to publish interim financial reports, a number of territories around the world either require or recommend their publication, often stipulating that they should be prepared in accordance with IFRS. IAS 34, 'Interim financial reporting', applies where an entity publishes an interim financial report in accordance with IFRS. It encourages publicly traded entities to prepare interim reports at least as of the end of the first half of their financial year. [IAS 34 para 1].

The objective of IAS 34 is to set out the minimum content that an interim financial report should contain and the principles that should be used in recognising and measuring the transactions and balances included in that report.

IAS 34 recommends that interim financial reports are published within 60 days of the period end, although local legislative requirements may mandate a different timescale. [IAS 34 para 1(b)].

Content

Under IAS 34, entities may either prepare full IFRS financial statements (as published in their annual report), or condensed financial statements. Condensed reporting is the more common approach.

IAS 34 requires the interim financial report to contain, as a minimum:

- A condensed balance sheet at the end of the interim period.
- A condensed income statement for the interim period reported and the year to date (for example, the second quarter and the half year to date).
- A condensed statement showing, for the year to date, either:
 - all changes in equity; or
 - changes in equity other than those arising from capital transactions with owners and distributions to owners (a statement of recognised income and expense – SORIE). The SORIE is required by IAS 19, 'Employee benefits', where an

Introduction to IAS 34, 'Interim financial reporting'

entity chooses a policy of recognising actuarial gains and losses in equity.

- A condensed cash flow statement for the year to date.
- Selected explanatory notes.
- Basic and diluted earnings per share for the interim period reported, presented on the face of the income statement (only if the entity is required to present earnings per share in accordance with IAS 33).

[IAS 34 paras 8, 11].

The condensed primary statements should contain, at a minimum, the main headings and sub-totals that were included in the entity's most recent full financial statements. [IAS 34 para 10].

IAS 34 requires comparative information to be given for all primary statements. Balance sheet comparative information is required to be given for the last year end. Income statement comparative information is required to be given for the equivalent reporting period in the previous year and the equivalent year-to-date in the previous year where different. Equity movement and cash flow comparative information is required for the equivalent year-to-date period in the previous year. [IAS 34 para 20].

The entity's annual financial statements give a comprehensive picture of the entity's state of affairs at the most recent year end and, therefore, the interim financial report should be read in conjunction with them. It is not necessary to give relatively insignificant updates to information already reported. The selected explanatory notes to the interim report should explain significant events and transactions that have occurred during the interim period. [IAS 34 para 15]. IAS 34 contains no requirement for a separate management commentary.

As a minimum, the following information is required by IAS 34 to be included in the notes to an interim financial report:

- A statement that the accounting policies and methods of computation used in the interim financial report are the same as those used in the most recent annual financial statements or, if this is not the case, a description of the nature and effect of the change.
- Explanatory comments about seasonality or cyclicality of interim operations.
- The nature and amount of any items affecting assets, liabilities, equity, net income or cash flows that are unusual because of their size, nature or incidence.
- The nature and amount of changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior periods, either interim periods within the current financial year or in

prior financial years, where those have a material impact in the current interim period.

- Issuances, repurchases and repayments of debt and equity securities.
- Dividends paid (aggregate or per share) separately for ordinary shares and other shares.
- Segment revenue and result for the primary segment (business or geographical) to the extent that it would be required by IAS 14, 'Segment reporting', to be disclosed in the annual financial statements. Companies disclosing segmental information in their annual reports under IFRS 8, 'Operating segments', should disclose significantly more information, including revenue from external customers, inter-segment revenues, segment result, total assets for which there has been a material change from the amount disclosed in the last annual financial statements, changes in segments or in the basis of measurement of segment profit since the last financial statements, and a reconciliation of segment results to the entity's result before tax and discontinued operations, separately identifying and describing material items. IFRS 8 is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009, with earlier adoption permitted.
- Material events that have occurred subsequent to the end of the interim period that have not been reflected in the interim financial report.
- The effect of changes in the reporting entity's composition during the interim period, including business combinations, acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and long-term investments, restructurings and discontinued operations. For business combinations, the detailed information under IFRS 3 paragraphs 66-73 is required.
- Changes in contingent liabilities and contingent assets since the previous annual balance sheet date.

[IAS 34 para 16].

The interim financial report should contain a statement that it is in compliance with IAS 34. The report should not be described as complying with IFRS unless it complies with all of the requirements of IFRS. [IAS 34 paras 3, 19].

Recognition and measurement

Although interim financial reports prepared in accordance with IAS 34 are not required to comply with the full requirements of IAS 1, 'Presentation of financial statements', they are required to be prepared in accordance with certain of the fundamental principles that underpin IAS 1. These fundamental principles include the preparation of the financial statements on a going-concern basis, using the accruals basis, offsetting, applying consistent accounting policies that comply with IFRS, materiality and aggregation. [IAS 1 para 3].

Introduction to IAS 34, 'Interim financial reporting'

The interim financial report should be prepared using the same accounting policies that were applied in the preparation of the most recent annual financial statements. There is an exception where the entity plans or is required to change an accounting policy before the year end. In this case, the accounting policy that will be applied in the next annual financial statements should be used in preparing the interim financial report, and the nature and impact of the change in accounting policy should be disclosed. [IAS 34 para 28]. The prior interim periods of the current year and the comparable interim periods of the prior year should be restated. [IAS 34 para 43].

For the purposes of the interim financial report, the interim period should be treated as a discrete period, and the entity should apply the same criteria at the interim balance sheet date as it does at its year end when considering the accounting treatment of transactions. Assets and liabilities should be carried in the interim balance sheet only where they meet the definition of an asset or a liability at the interim balance sheet date. [IAS 34 para 29].

Revenue that is received seasonally, cyclically or occasionally within a financial year is not anticipated or deferred at the interim date if such treatment would not be appropriate at the year end. [IAS 34 para 37]. Highly seasonal businesses are encouraged to include financial information for the 12 months ending on the interim reporting date, with comparatives for the prior 12-month period. [IAS 34 para 21]. Costs that are incurred unevenly during the year are only anticipated or deferred at the interim date if such treatment would also be appropriate at the year end. [IAS 34 para 39].

There are special requirements for measuring the interim income tax expense, which is accrued based on a full-year effective rate applied to the pre-tax income of the interim period. Appendix B to the standard contains further examples of applying the recognition and measurement criteria for a number of items including: payroll taxes, planned maintenance and overhaul, provisions, year-end bonuses, contingent lease payments, intangible assets, pensions, holiday pay, measurement of interim income tax expense, contractual purchase price changes, depreciation, inventories, foreign currency translation and impairment.

The materiality used in the preparation of an interim financial report is calculated with respect to the results of that period and not by reference to an estimate of the results for the full year. [IAS 34 para 23].

IFRIC 10, 'Interim financial reporting and impairment', addresses the issue of whether an impairment of goodwill or an investment recognised in an interim period may be reversed (in a subsequent interim period or in a subsequent full year accounts). IFRIC 10 concludes that an entity should not reverse an impairment loss recognised in a previous interim period in respect of goodwill or an investment in either an equity instrument or a financial asset carried at cost. [IFRIC 10 para 8].

First-time adoption of IFRS

IFRS 1, 'First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards', applies to interim financial reports that are presented in accordance with IAS 34 for part of the period covered by the entity's first IFRS financial statements. [IFRS 1 para 2(b)]. The first IFRS interim report should contain sufficient detail to enable users to understand the effect of the transition (including the new IFRS accounting policies), as well as the IFRS 1 reconciliations between previous GAAP and IFRS. This is likely to lead to a significantly longer report.

Auditors' review

IAS 34 does not require interim reports to be reviewed by auditors. However, where local legislation requires it, or where the entity has engaged the auditor to perform a review, the auditors' interim review report should be included in the interim report.

Pro forma information

Recent years have seen increasing use of adjusted or *pro forma* information in narrative and summary disclosures, which has raised concern among regulators and users of financial statements. A particular cause for concern is where such information is presented so that it appears more representative or reliable than the numbers reported in accordance with IFRS. For example, the narrative discussion of performance may focus on strong growth in earnings before certain expenses such as one-off costs, while the income statement prepared in accordance with accounting standards shows a decline in profit, or even a loss. For this reason, it should be made clear to the reader that any non-GAAP measures are adjusted or *pro forma*, and they should be reconciled to the numbers prepared in accordance with IFRS. Non-GAAP figures should not be given greater prominence than IFRS figures.

Illustrative interim financial information for the period ended 30 June 2008

This illustrative condensed consolidated interim financial information is prepared in accordance with IAS 34, 'Interim financial reporting'. The company (Swimodele Group), manufactures and sells swimwear, swimming pool and diving equipment, as well as beach accessories, through a network of independent retailers. Swimodele Group is an existing preparer of IFRS consolidated financial statements; IFRS 1, 'First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards' is not applicable. Swimodele Group is an issuer of shares and does not have listed debt.

The IFRS standards and IFRIC interpretations considered in preparing this illustrative interim financial information are those issued by the IASB up to 31 March 2008 that are mandatory for the year end 31 December 2008. An appendix to the interim financial information sets out disclosures required by IFRS 8, 'Operating segments', should an entity choose to early-adopt this standard.

We have attempted to create realistic condensed consolidated interim financial information for a corporate entity. Certain types of transaction have not been included, as they are not relevant to the group's operations.

The example disclosures are not the only acceptable form of presentation. The form and content of each reporting entity's condensed consolidated interim financial information is the responsibility of the entity's management. Any form of presentation may be adopted if it complies with the specific disclosure requirements prescribed in IAS 34.

This illustrative condensed consolidated interim financial information is not a substitute for reading the standards and interpretations themselves or for professional judgement as to fairness of presentation. It does not cover all possible disclosures that IAS 34 requires, nor does it take account of any specific legal framework. Additional accounting disclosures may be required in order to comply with local laws, national financial reporting standards and/or stock exchange regulations.

The references in the left-hand margin refer to the paragraph of the standard in which the disclosure appears, for example, '34p11' indicates IAS 34 paragraph 11. The reference to IFRS appears in full, for example, 'IFRS3p67' indicates IFRS 3 paragraph 67. The designation 'DV' (disclosure voluntary) indicates that disclosure is encouraged but not required.

Swimodele Group Interim financial information (unaudited)

30 June 2008

Contents

| Interim management report | 11 |
|--|----|
| Balance sheet | 12 |
| Income statement | 13 |
| Statement of changes in equity | 14 |
| Cash flow statement | 15 |
| Notes to the interim financial information | 16 |
| Auditors' review report | 31 |

Interim management report¹

34p8(e) Swimodele ('the Company') and its subsidiaries (together, 'the group') manufacture and sell swimwear, swimming pool and diving equipment, and beach accessories, through a network of independent retailers. The group has operations mainly in countries within the eurozone, the US and the UK

Key events

34p8(e) The operational highlight of the period was the acquisition of Chanoos Ltd, a company that manages a network of retail outlets for swimwear. Further details are given in Note 15.

The group also sold its beach accessories division during the period, in order to focus on the core swimwear and diving products divisions. Further details are given in Note 14.

A new legal claim in respect of the group's swimming pool alarms not meeting European security criteria arose in May 2008. Further details of the provision in respect of this claim, the impairment of assets that produce these alarms and the write-down of inventory are given in Notes 9 and 10.

On 2 August 2008 there was severe flooding in one of the group's major Eastern European swimwear manufacturing factories. Further details are given in Note 18.

While it seems likely that global market conditions (the 'credit crunch') will affect market confidence and consumer spending patterns, the group is well placed to grow revenues through ongoing product innovation and the recent acquisition of Chanoos Ltd. The group does not have any exposure to sub-prime lending or collateralised debt obligations. The group has sufficient headroom to enable it to conform to covenants on its existing borrowings. The group has sufficient working capital and undrawn financing facilities to service its operating activities and ongoing investment in new stores.

¹ Where local legislation does not require an interim management report, this information should be included within the notes.

(All amounts in euro thousands unless otherwise stated)

Balance sheet

| 34p8(a), 34p1 | 0 | | 30 June | As at 31 December | 30 June |
|-----------------------|--|--------|----------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| 34p20(a) ¹ | | Note | 2008 | 2007 | 2007 ¹ |
| , | Assets | | | | |
| | Non-current assets | _ | | | |
| | Property, plant and equipment | 5 | 15,298 | 16,595 | 13,472 |
| | Intangible assets | 5 | 6,182 | 3,140 | 3,322 |
| | Investments in associates | | 450 | 290 | 325 |
| | Deferred income tax assets | | 145 | 77 | 90 |
| | Available-for-sale financial assets Other non-current assets | | 4,212 | 3,999 | 4,183 |
| | | | 1,376 | 1,760 | 1,475 |
| | Total non-current assets | | 27,663 | 25,861 | 22,867 |
| | Current assets | | | | |
| | Inventories | | 13,230 | 12,730 | 12,524 |
| | Trade and other receivables | | 8,241 | 9,135 | 8,799 |
| | Other current financial assets | | 679 | 871 | 548 |
| | Cash and cash equivalents | | 927 | 498 | 2,008 |
| | Total current assets | | 23,077 | 23,234 | 23,879 |
| | Assets held for sale | 14 | 1,400 | | _ |
| | Total assets | | 52,140 | 49,095 | 46,746 |
| | Equity Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the company | | | | |
| | Share capital | 6 | 24,437 | 24,032 | 24,717 |
| | Reserves | | 3,909 | 3,056 | 1,717 |
| | Retained earnings | | 3,872 | 1,552 | 1,799 |
| | | | 32,218 | 28,640 | 28,233 |
| | Minority interest | | 3,198 | 2,975 | 2,620 |
| | Total equity | | 35,416 | 31,615 | 30,853 |
| | Liabilities Non-current liabilities | | | | |
| | Borrowings and loans | 7 | 5,230 | 5,110 | 3,571 |
| | Deferred income tax liabilities | | 420 | 380 | 369 |
| | Retirement benefit obligations | 8 | 2,237 | 2,725 | 2,937 |
| | Provisions for other liabilities and charges Other non-current liabilities | 9 | 1,038 2,097 | 977 1,630 | 788 1,580 |
| | Total non-current liabilities | | 11,022 | 10,822 | 9.245 |
| | | | 11,022 | 10,022 | 3,243 |
| | Current liabilities | | 0.000 | 4.000 | 4.704 |
| | Trade and other payables | | 2,922 | 4,389 | 4,761 |
| | Current income tax liabilities | - | 587 | 728 | 611 |
| | Borrowings and loans Provisions for other liabilities and charges | 7 9 | 827 626 | 603 938 | 514 762 |
| | | | 4.060 | 6.659 | 6 6 4 0 |
| | Total current liabilities Liabilities held for sale | 14 | 4,962 740 | 6,658 - | 6,648 – |
| | Total liabilities | | 16,724 | 17,480 | 15,893 |
| | Total equity and liabilities | | 52,140 | 49,095 | 46,746 |
| | | | | | |

The notes on pages [x] to [x] form an integral part of this condensed consolidated interim financial information.

¹ IAS 34 does not require balance sheet comparatives for the prior interim period. Comparatives as at 30 June 2007 are presented voluntarily.

(All amounts in euro thousands unless otherwise stated)

Income statement

34p8(b), 34p10, 34p20(b)

| | | Six months ended 30 June | | |
|---|----------|------------------------------|------------------------------|--|
| | Note | 2008 | 2007 | |
| Continuing operations Revenue Cost of sales | 4 | 32,100 (14,426) | 30,174 (14,604) | |
| Gross profit Distribution costs Administrative expenses | | 17,674 (8,349) (4,128) | 15,570 (7,418) (3,607) | |
| Operating profit Finance income Finance costs Share of post-tax profits of associates | 4, 8, 10 | 5,197 1 (779) 145 | 4,545 1 (609) 55 | |
| Profit before income tax Income tax expense | 11 | 4,564 (893) | 3,992 (637) | |
| Profit from continuing operations Discontinued operations Profit from discontinued operations | 14 | 3,671 60 | 3,355 85 | |
| Profit for the period | | 3,731 | 3,440 | |
| Attributable to: - equity holders of the company - minority interest | | 3,281 450 | 2,935 505 | |
| | | 3,731 | 3,440 | |

| | | | Cents per share | Cents per share |
|-------|--|----|-----------------|-----------------|
| | Earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity holders of the | | | |
| 34p11 | company | | | |
| 04611 | – basic | 12 | 21.7 | 19.7 |
| | diluted | | 21.2 | 19.3 |
| | Earnings per share for profit from continuing operations attributable to | | | |
| | the equity holders of the company | | | |
| | basic | | 21.2 | 19.1 |
| | diluted | | 20.8 | 18.8 |

The notes on pages [x] to [x] form an integral part of this condensed consolidated interim financial information.

(All amounts in euro thousands unless otherwise stated)

Statement of changes in equity

34p8(c) 34p20(c) 34p10

| | A | | le to equit he compa | | | | |
|---|------|----------------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------------|---------------------------|
| N Balance at 1 January 2007 | lote | Share Capital 23,917 | Other reserves 1,297 | Retained earnings 523 | Total 25,737 | Minority interest 2,379 | Total equity 28,116 |
| Fair value gains on available- for-sale financial assets, net | | | | | | | |
| of tax Cash flow hedges, net of tax Currency translation | | _ | 70 (40) | | 70 (40) | _ | 70 (40 |
| differences | | _ | (110) | _ | (110) | (12) | (122 |
| Net income recognised directly in equity Profit for the period | | _ _ | (80) - | _ 2,935 | (80) 2,935 | (12) 505 | (92 3,440 |
| Total recognised income | | | | | | | |
| for the period ended 30 June 2007 Employee share option scheme: | | - | (80) | 2,935 | 2,855 | 493 | 3,348 |
| value of employee servicesproceeds from shares | | - | 500 | _ | 500 | _ | 500 |
| issued Dividends relating to | 6 | 800 | - | - | 800 | _ | 800 |
| December 2006 paid in May 2007 | 13 | _ | _ | (1,659) | (1,659) | (252) | (1,911 |
| | | 800 | 500 | (1,659) | (359) | (252) | (611 |
| Balance at 30 June 2007 | | 24,717 | 1,717 | 1,799 | 28,233 | 2,620 | 30,853 |
| Balance at 1 January 2008 | | 24,032 | 3,056 | 1,552 | 28,640 | 2,975 | 31,615 |
| Fair value gains on available- for-sale financial assets, net of tax Cash flow hedges, net of tax | | _ _ | 36 (60) | _ _ | 36 (60) | _ _ | 36 (60 |
| Currency translation differences | | _ | 100 | _ | 100 | 10 | 110 |
| Net income recognised directly in equity Profit for the period | | _ | 76 - | - 3,281 | 76 3,281 | 10 450 | 86 3,731 |
| Total recognised income for the period ended 30 June 2 | 2008 | _ | 76 | 3,281 | 3,357 | 460 | 3,817 |
| Employee share option scheme: value of employee services proceeds from shares issued Purchase of treasury shares | 6 | 600 (195) | 700 - - | - - | 700 600 (195) | - - - | 700 600 (195 |
| Dividends relating to December 2007 paid in May 2008 | 13 | _ | _ | (961) | (961) | (237) | (1,198 |
| Convertible bond – equity component | 7 | - | 77 | _ | 77 | _ | 77 |
| | | 405 | 777 | (961) | 221 | (237) | (16 |
| Balance at 30 June 2008 | | 24,437 | 3,909 | 3,872 | 32,218 | 3,198 | 35,416 |

The notes on pages [x] to [x] form an integral part of this condensed consolidated interim financial information.

(All amounts in euro thousands unless otherwise stated)

Cash flow statement

34p8(d), 34p10, 34p20(d)

| | | Six months ended 30 June | | |
|---|------|--------------------------|--------|--|
| | Note | 2008 | 2007 | |
| Cash flows from operating activities: | | | | |
| continuing operations | | 10,908 | 7,874 | |
| discontinued operations¹ | 14 | 720 | 1,166 | |
| Cash flows from operating activities – net | | 11,628 | 9,040 | |
| Cash flows from investing activities: | | | | |
| – continuing operation: | | | | |
| acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired | 15 | (6,850) | _ | |
| purchases of property, plant and equipment | 5 | (7,977) | (6,204 | |
| proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment | | 300 | 60 | |
| other investing cash flow – net | | 290 | 275 | |
| net proceeds on disposal of business | 14 | 3,710 | _ | |
| - discontinued operations | 14 | (77) | (92 | |
| Cash flows from investing activities – net | | (10,604) | (5,961 | |
| Cash flows from financing activities: | | | | |
| continuing operations | | | | |
| dividends paid to equity holders and minority interests | 13 | (1,198) | (1,911 | |
| issue of convertible bonds | 7 | 1,000 | - | |
| repayments of borrowings | 7 | (163) | (225 | |
| other finance cash flows – net | | (192) | 63 | |
| purchase of treasury shares | 6 | (195) | _ | |
| discontinued operations | 14 | (113) | (103 | |
| Cash flows from financing activities – net | | (861) | (2,176 | |
| Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and bank | | | | |
| overdrafts | | 163 | 903 | |
| Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at start of period | | 498 | 977 | |
| Exchange losses | | (4) | (17 | |
| Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at end of | | | | |
| period | | 657 | 1,863 | |
| Bank overdrafts | | 270 | 145 | |
| Cash and cash equivalents | | 927 | 2,008 | |

The notes on pages [x] to [x] form an integral part of this condensed consolidated interim financial information.

IFRS5 p33(c)

¹ The net cash flows relating to the operating, investing and financing activities of discontinued operations may either be presented on the face of the cash flow statement or in the notes.

(All amounts in euro thousands unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the interim financial information

1 General information

34p8(e)

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in No-land. The address of its registered office is Nice Walk Way, Runningville.

The Company has its primary listing on the EuroMoney Stock Exchange.

This condensed consolidated interim financial information was approved for issue on 24 August 2008.

CA85 s240(3), CA06 s435(1) This condensed consolidated interim financial information has been reviewed, not audited¹

2 Basis of preparation

34p15, 34p19 This condensed consolidated interim financial information for the six months ended 30 June 2008 has been prepared in accordance with IAS 34, 'Interim financial reporting'. The condensed consolidated interim financial information should be read in conjunction with the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

3 Accounting policies

34p28, 34p16(a) Except as described below, the accounting policies applied are consistent with those of the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007, as described in those annual financial statements.

34pB12 Taxes on income in the interim periods are accrued using the tax rate that would be applicable to expected total annual earnings.

The following new standards, amendments to standards or interpretations are mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning 1 January 2008 but are not currently relevant for the group².

- IFRIC 11, 'IFRS 2 Group and treasury share transactions'.
- IFRIC 12, 'Service concession arrangements'.
- IFRIC 14, 'IAS 19 the limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their interaction'.

The following new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued but are not effective for the financial year beginning 1 January 2008 and have not been early adopted:

IFRS 8, 'Operating segments', effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14, 'Segment reporting', and requires a 'management approach' under which segment information is presented on the same

¹ Local legislation may require interim financial information to be reviewed or audited.

² Where standards or interpretations mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning 1 January 2008 are relevant to the group, their effect on the financial statements should be disclosed.

(All amounts in euro thousands unless otherwise stated)

basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. The expected impact is still being assessed in detail, but it appears likely that the number of reported segments may increase.

- IAS 23 (amendment), 'Borrowing costs', effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. This amendment is not relevant to the group, as the group currently applies a policy of capitalising borrowing costs.
- IFRS 2 (amendment) 'Share-based payment', effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. Management is assessing the impact of changes to vesting conditions and cancellations on the group's SAYE schemes.
- IFRS 3 (amendment), 'Business combinations' and consequential amendments to IAS 27, 'Consolidated and separate financial statements', IAS 28, 'Investments in associates' and IAS 31, 'Interests in joint ventures', effective prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009. Management is assessing the impact of the new requirements regarding acquisition accounting, consolidation and associates on the group. The group does not have any joint ventures.
- IAS 1 (amendment), 'Presentation of financial statements', effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. Management is in the process of developing proforma accounts under the revised disclosure requirements of this standard.
- IAS 32 (amendment), 'Financial instruments: presentation', and consequential amendments to IAS 1, 'Presentation of financial statements', effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. This is not relevant to the group, as the group does not have any puttable instruments.
- IFRIC 13, 'Customer loyalty programmes', effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008. Management is evaluating the effect of this interpretation on its revenue recognition.

(All amounts in euro thousands unless otherwise stated)

4 Segment information

| | Business segment | Swimwear | Diving products | Swimming pool equipment | Other | Total continuing operations | Total discontinued operations (beach accessories) | Corporate unallocated expenses | Total Group |
|----------|---|-----------------|--------------------|-------------------------|----------|-----------------------------------|---|--------------------------------|----------------|
| 34p16(g) | Six months ended 30 June 2008 Total segment | | | | | | | | |
| | revenue Inter-segment revenue | 16,898 (978) | 11,275 _ | 4,655 _ | 250 _ | 33,078 (978) | 4,200 | _ | 37,278 (978) |
| 34p16(g) | Revenue | 15,920 | 11,275 | 4,655 | 250 | 32,100 | 4,200 | _ | 36,300 |
| 34p16(g) | Operating profit/ segment results Operating profit from discontinued operations | 3,418 | 1,499 | 569 | 30 | 5,516 | 130 | (319) | 5,327 |
| | Operating profit from continuing operations | | | | | | | | 5,197 |
| 34p16(g) | Six months ended 30 June 2007 Total segment | | | | | | | | |
| | revenue Inter-segment | 18,121 | 8,949 | 3,500 | 510 | 31,080 | 3,100 | - | 34,180 |
| | revenue | (906) | _ | - | _ | (906) | _ | _ | (906) |
| 34p16(g) | Revenue | 17,215 | 8,949 | 3,500 | 510 | 30,174 | 3,100 | _ | 33,274 |
| | Operating profit/ segment results Operating profit from discontinued operations | 3,356 | 970 | 459 | 10 | 4,795 | 185 | (250) | 4,730 (185) |
| | Operating profit from continuing operations | | | | | | | | 4,545 |

The group was involved in two major transactions in March 2008:

- sale of beach accessories division (see Note 14); and
- acquisition of a new subsidiary, Chanoos Ltd, which operates retail networks for swimwear (see Note 15).

(All amounts in euro thousands unless otherwise stated)

5 Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

34p16(c,) In May 2008, the group acquired a new machine to test diving equipment at a cost of 34p17(d) $\leq 6.900.$

| | | Property, plant and equipment | Intangible assets |
|----|--|-------------------------------------|----------------------|
| DV | Six months ended 30 June 2007 | | |
| | Opening net book amount as at 1 January 2007 | 15,722 | 3,504 |
| | Additions | 6,204 | _ |
| | Disposals | (436) | _ |
| | Depreciation and amortisation | (6,318) | (182) |
| | Impairment | (1,700) | |
| | Closing net book amount as at 30 June 2007 | 13,472 | 3,322 |
| DV | Six months ended 30 June 2008 | | <u>.</u> |
| | Opening net book amount as at 1 January 2008 | 16,595 | 3,140 |
| | Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 15) | 1,970 | 3,810 |
| | Additions | 7,977 | _ |
| | Disposals | (352) | |
| | Discontinued operations - sale of beach accessories division | | |
| | (Note 14) | (760) | (325) |
| | PPE and intangibles classified as held for sale – Ewenshop | | |
| | (Note 14) | (410) | (150) |
| | Depreciation and amortisation | (8,422) | (293) |
| | Impairment | (1,300) | - |
| | Closing net book amount as at 30 June 2008 | 15,298 | 6,182 |

6 Share capital

| | | Number of shares (thousands) | Ordinary shares ¹ | Share premium | Treasury shares | Total |
|----------|--|------------------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------|-----------------|---------------|
| DV | Opening balance as at 1 January 2007 Proceeds from shares issued – employee share option scheme | 14,700 300 | 14,700 300 | 9,217 500 | - | 23,917 800 |
| | At 30 June 2007 | 15,000 | 15,000 | 9,717 | _ | 24,717 |
| 34p16(e) | Opening balance as at 1 January 2008 Proceeds from shares issued – | 15,000 | 15,000 | 9,032 | _ | 24,032 |
| | employee share option scheme Treasury shares purchased | 400 (100) | 400 | 200 | – (195) | 600 (195) |
| | At 30 June 2008 | 15,300 | 15,400 | 9,232 | (195) | 24,437 |

34p16(e) The group acquired 100,000 of its own shares through purchases on the EuroMoney Stock Exchange on 1 April 2008. The total amount paid to acquire the shares, net of income tax, was €195 and has been deducted from shareholders' equity. The shares are held as 'Treasury shares'. The company has the right to re-issue these shares at a later date. All shares issued were fully paid.

¹ Where local legislation does not stipulate a par value for ordinary shares, the 'ordinary shares' and 'share premium' columns may be combined.

(All amounts in euro thousands unless otherwise stated)

34p16(e) Employee share option scheme: options exercised during the period to 30 June 2008 resulted in 400,000 shares being issued (30 June 2007: 300,000 shares), with exercise proceeds of €600 (30 June 2007: €800). The related weighted average price at the time of exercise was €2.50 (30 June 2007: €2.45) per share.

7 Borrowings and loans

| DV | Non-current Current | 30 June 2008 5,230 827 | As at 31 December 2007 5,110 603 | 30 June 2007 3,571 514 |
|----------|--|---------------------------------|----------------------------------|---|
| | | 6,057 | 5,713 | 4,085 |
| 34p16(e) | Movements in borrowings are analysed as follows: | | | |
| | Six months ended 30 June 2007 | | | |
| | Opening amount as at 1 January 2007 | | | 4,210 |
| | Acquisition of subsidiary | | | 100 |
| | Repayments of borrowings | | | (225) |
| | Closing amount as at 30 June 2007 | | | 4,085 |
| | Six months ended 30 June 2008 | | | |
| | Opening amount as at 1 January 2008 | | | 5,713 |
| | Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 15) | | | 260 |
| | Borrowings classified as held for sale (Note 14) | | | (200) |
| | Borrowings from discontinued operation (Note 14) | | | (450) |
| | Repayments of borrowings | | | (163) |
| | Convertible bonds – liability component | | | 897 |
| | Closing amount as at 30 June 2008 | | | 6,057 |

The group issued one thousand 5.0% convertible bonds at a total nominal value of €1,100 on 1 May 2008. The bonds mature five years from the issue date at their nominal value of €1,100 or can be converted into shares at the holder's option at the rate of 33 shares per €1. The value of the liability component (€893) and the equity conversion component (€107), net of transaction costs of €100, were determined at issuance of the bond. The fair value of the liability component included in long-term borrowings was calculated using a market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond. The liability component is subsequently stated at amortised cost until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bond. The residual amount, representing the value of the equity conversion component, is included in shareholders' equity in other reserves, net of deferred tax of €30.

The group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities:

| | | As at | |
|----------------------------|-----------------|---------------------|-----------------|
| | 30 June 2008 | 31 December 2007 | 30 June 2007 |
| Floating rate: | | | |
| - expiring beyond one year | 9,000 | 9,000 | _ |

These facilities have been arranged to help finance ongoing investment in new stores.

(All amounts in euro thousands unless otherwise stated)

34p6, 15 While it seems likely that global market conditions (the 'credit crunch') will affect market confidence and consumer spending patterns, the group is well placed to grow revenues through ongoing product innovation and the recent acquisition of Chanoos Ltd. The group does not have any exposure to sub-prime lending or collateralised debt obligations. The group has sufficient headroom to enable it to conform to covenants on its existing borrowings. The group has sufficient working capital and undrawn financing facilities to service its operating activities and ongoing investment in new stores.

8 Retirement benefit obligations

34p16(c) On 21 February 2008, a change in legislation in Planetavia resulted in the group being required to settle a significant proportion of its defined benefit pensions obligations in that country. The cost of settling the obligation exceeded the amount recognised as a defined benefit obligation. The settlement resulted in an additional expense of €265.

DV The amounts recognised within administrative expenses in the income statement were as follows:

| | Six months ended | |
|--------------------------------|------------------|-----------|
| | June 2008 | June 2007 |
| Current service costs | 751 | 498 |
| Interest costs | 431 | 314 |
| Expected return on plan assets | (510) | (240) |
| Past service costs | 18 | 16 |
| Losses on settlement | 265 | - |
| | 955 | 588 |

DV The amounts recognised in the balance sheet were as follows:

| | | As at | |
|---------------------------------------|-----------|---------|-----------|
| | D | ecember | |
| | June 2008 | 2007 | June 2007 |
| Present value of funded obligations | 6,155 | 6,999 | 7,697 |
| Fair value of plan assets | (5,991) | (6,853) | (7,736) |
| Present value of unfunded obligations | 2,305 | 2,836 | 3,257 |
| Unrecognised actuarial losses | (87) | (94) | (99) |
| Unrecognised past service cost | (145) | (163) | (182) |
| Liability in the balance sheet | 2,237 | 2,725 | 2,937 |

The changes in the present value of funded obligations and fair value of plan assets were mainly due to the acquisition of Chanoos Ltd (Note 15) and the settlement of plans in Planetavia. The Planetavia settlement resulted in a decrease of \in 1,842 in the present value of funded obligations and a decrease of \in 2,089 in the fair value of plan assets.

(All amounts in euro thousands unless otherwise stated)

9 Provisions for other liabilities and charges

| | | Legal | | | |
|----------------------|---|--------|---------------|-------|---------|
| | | claims | Restructuring | Other | Total |
| | Six months ended 30 June 2007 | | | | |
| DV | Opening net book amount at 1 January 2007 | 60 | _ | 210 | 270 |
| | Additional provisions | 80 | 1,200 | 90 | 1,370 |
| | Unused amount reversed | (10) | _ | (80) | (90) |
| | Closing net book amount at 30 June 2007 | 130 | 1,200 | 220 | 1,550 |
| | Six months ended 30 June 2008 | | | | |
| 34p16(c) 34p17(c) | Opening net book amount at 1 January 2008 | 285 | 1,200 | 430 | 1,915 |
| (-) | Additional provisions | 1,279 | _ | _ | 1,279 |
| | Unused amount reversed | _ | (180) | (330) | (510) |
| | Utilised during the period | _ | (1,020) | - | (1,020) |
| | Closing net book amount at 30 June 2008 | 1,564 | _ | 100 | 1,664 |

34p16(i), 34p16(d), 34p17(c)

A provision of €1,200 was recognised in respect of the restructuring of the swimwear segment as at 30 June 2007. This restructuring was completed in April 2008, at which point €180 of the restructuring provision was reversed as unutilised.

34p17(f) The legal claims provision of €285 as at 1 January 2008 relates to certain legal claims brought against the group by customers. The balance as at 30 June 2008 is expected to be utilised in September 2008. A new legal claim arose in May 2008 against the group, asserting that some of the group's swimming pool alarms do not meet European security criteria. A provision of €1,279 was consequently recognised.

10 Operating profit

34p16(c) The following items of unusual nature, size or incidence have been charged to operating profit during the period:

Six months anded

| | | SIX IIIOIILIIS EIIUEU | |
|----------|---|-----------------------|-----------------|
| | | 30 June 2008 | 30 June 2007 |
| 34p17(b) | Impairment charge relating to property, plant and equipment and | | |
| , | intangible assets | 1,300 | 1,700 |
| 34p17(a) | Inventory write-down | 730 | _ |
| 34p17(c) | Restructuring provision (Note 9): | | |
| | provisions provided | _ | 1,200 |
| | – provisions reversed | (180) | _ |

Non-financial assets that have an indefinite life are not subject to amortisation, but are tested for impairment annually at year-end (31 December) or whenever there is any indication of impairment. There was no indication of impairment for non-financial assets with indefinite lives during the period.

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The impairment charge of \leq 1,300 in the period relates to the impairment of a machine that produces swimming pool alarms that do not meet European security criteria, with the recoverable amount being the fair value less costs to sell. The impairment charge of \leq 1,700 in the six months ended 30 June 2007 related mainly to the restructuring of the swimwear division, with the recoverable amount being value in use, discounted at a pretax rate of 7.5%

(All amounts in euro thousands unless otherwise stated)

Financial assets were reviewed for impairment as at 30 June 2008. There was no indication of impairment.

The inventory write-down of €730 mainly relates to swimming pool alarms that do not meet European security criteria and includes €100 relating to the Ewenshop disposal group (Note 14).

11 Income taxes

34p30(c) Income tax expense is recognised based on management's best estimate of the weighted average annual income tax rate expected for the full financial year. The estimated average annual tax rate used for the year to 31 December 2008 is 35% (the estimated tax rate for the six months ended 30 June 2007 was 33%). This increase is mainly due to an increase of 7% in the income tax rate in Planetavia. This increase is applicable from 1 January 2008.

12 Earnings per share

DV Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the company arises from continuing and discontinued operations as follows:

| | Six months ended 30 June (cents per share) | |
|---|--|------|
| | 2008 | 2007 |
| Earnings per share for profit from continuing operations attributable to the equity holders of the company: | | |
| – basic | 21.2 | 19.1 |
| - diluted | 20.8 | 18.8 |
| Earnings per share for profit from discontinued operations attributable to the equity holders of the company: | | |
| - basic | 0.5 | 0.6 |
| - diluted | 0.4 | 0.5 |

13 Dividends

34p16(f) A dividend that relates to the period to 31 December 2007 and that amounts to €961 was paid in May 2008 (2007: €1,659).

DV In addition, an interim dividend of 5 cents per share (2007: 5 cents per share) was proposed by the board of directors on 20 July 2008 and approved by shareholders on 1 August 2008. It is payable on 31 October 2008 to shareholders who are on the register at 30 September 2008. This interim dividend, amounting to €765 (2007: €750), has not been recognised as a liability in this interim financial information. It will be recognised in shareholders' equity in the year to 31 December 2008.

14 Discontinued operations and disposal groups

34p16(c), (i), 34p10, Discontinued operations

On 6 March 2008, the group announced its intention to sell the beach accessories division. The group initiated an active programme to locate a buyer and complete the sale during the first half of the year. The business was sold on 23 May 2008 for cash consideration of €3,710 (net of €200 cash disposed of); its results are presented in this condensed interim financial information as a discontinued operation.

(All amounts in euro thousands unless otherwise stated)

Financial information relating to the beach accessories operations for the period to the date of disposal is set out below. The income statement and cash flow statement distinguish discontinued operations from continuing operations. Comparative figures have been restated.

Income statement and cash flow information

| | | Six months ended 30 June | | |
|--|---------------------------|---------------------------------|--|--|
| Revenue Expenses | 2008 4,200 (3,852) | 2007 3,100 (2,929) | | |
| Profit before income tax from discontinued operation Tax | 348 (90) | 171 (39) | | |
| Profit after income tax from discontinued operations | 258 | 132 | | |
| Pre-tax loss recognised on the remeasurement of assets of disposal group Tax | (110) 10 | _ _ | | |
| Post tax loss recognised on the remeasurement of assets of disposal group Post tax loss on disposal of discontinued operations | (100) (98) | - (47) | | |
| Profit from discontinued operations | 60 | 85 | | |

34p16(c), 34p10, DV Disposal group

The assets and liabilities related to Ewenshop, a retail outlet in the UK, which is part of the swimwear segment, have been presented as held for sale following shareholder approval of the decision to dispose of this operation. The completion date for the transaction is expected to be before September 2008. Ewenshop assets and liabilities are a disposal group. However, Ewenshop is not a discontinued operation at 30 June 2008, as it does not represent a major line of business.

Ewenshop assets and liabilities were remeasured to the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell at the date of held-for-sale classification. The inventory was written down by €100 to €630.

(All amounts in euro thousands unless otherwise stated)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Ewenshop disposal group are as follows:

| Assets classified as held for sale: | 30 June 2008 |
|--|--------------|
| - property, plant and equipment | 410 |
| - intangible assets | 150 |
| - inventory | 630 |
| cash and cash equivalents | 200 |
| - other current assets | 10 |
| Total assets of the disposal group | 1,400 |
| Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale: | |
| - trade and other payables | 346 |
| - borrowings | 200 |
| - other current liabilities | 74 |
| – provisions | 120 |
| Total liabilities of the disposal group | 740 |
| Total net assets of the disposal group | 660 |

15 Business combinations

IFRS3p67 (a)-(c)

IFRS3p66 On 1 March 2008, the group acquired 100% of the share capital of Chanoos Ltd, a company that manages a retail network of shops for swimwear, for a cash consideration of €6,900.

(i), IFRS3p70 (a),(b)

IFRS3p67 The acquired business contributed revenues of €2,300 and net profit of €750 to the group for the period from acquisition to 30 June 2008. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2008, consolidated revenue and consolidated profit for the six months ended 30 June 2008 would have been €32,205 and €3,754 respectively.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

(d)

IFRS3p67 Purchase consideration:

| _ | cash | paid |
|---|--------|-------|
| _ | direct | t cos |

| cash paiddirect costs relating to the acquisition | 6,900 100 |
|--|----------------|
| Total purchase consideration – provisional fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (see below) | 7,000 4,190 |
| Provisional goodwill | 2,810 |

(h)

IFRS3p67 The goodwill is attributable to Chanoos Ltd's strong position and profitability in its market and the significant synergies expected to arise after its acquisition by the group. The goodwill is attributable to the swimwear segment.

(All amounts in euro thousands unless otherwise stated)

IFRS3p67 The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:

| | Acquiree's carrying amount | Provisional fair value |
|--|----------------------------------|------------------------|
| Cash and cash equivalents | 150 | 150 |
| Property, plant and equipment | 2,000 | 1,970 |
| Customer list | _ | 85 |
| Customer relationships | _ | 165 |
| Brand | _ | 750 |
| Inventories | 1,120 | 1,210 |
| Receivables | 610 | 610 |
| Payables | (380) | (380) |
| Employee benefit liabilities, including pensions | (230) | (170) |
| Borrowings | (260) | (260) |
| Net deferred tax assets | 90 | 60 |
| Net identifiable assets acquired | 3,100 | 4,190 |
| Outflow of cash to acquire business, net of cash acquired: | | |
| cash consideration | | 6,900 |
| direct costs relating to acquisition | | 100 |
| - cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired | | (150) |
| Cash outflow on acquisition | | 6,850 |

16 Contingent liabilities

A claim for unspecified damages was lodged against the group during the period. The company has disclaimed liability and is defending the action. No provision in relation to this claim has been recognised in this condensed interim financial information, as legal advice indicates that it is not probable that a significant liability will arise. There were no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2007 or at 30 June 2007. Further claims for which provisions have been made are reflected in Note 9.

17 Related-party transactions

34p17(j) During the six months to 30 June 2008, sales of €972 (six months to 30 June 2007: €1,020) were made to Swimwear United, a company in which Mr Paddy, a director of Swimodele, is also a director. At 30 June 2008, an amount of €224 (31 December 2007: €182) was due from Swimwear United in respect of those sales.

34p17(j) A loan to Mrs Lulu, a key management executive of Swimodele, has been advanced in May 2008. The loan's term and conditions are as follows:

| | | | reimbursed as at 30 | |
|----------|----------------|-------------------|---------------------|---------------|
| Name | Amount of loan | Term | June 2008 | Interest rate |
| | | Repayable monthly | | |
| Mrs Lulu | 70 | over 2 years | 6 | 6.3% |

20 1.....

20 1.....

(All amounts in euro thousands unless otherwise stated)

34p17(j) A termination benefit of €600 was granted to Mr Ewen, the director of Ewenshop. Ewenshop is now classified as a disposal group. See Note 14.

Key management compensation amounted to €2,916 for the six months ended 30 June 2008 (30 June 2007: €2,200). See below.

| | | 30 June | 30 June |
|----|---|---------|---------|
| | | 2008 | 2007 |
| DV | Salaries and other short-term benefits | 1,998 | 1,985 |
| | Termination benefits | 600 | _ |
| | Settlement of defined benefit plan (Note 8) | 12 | _ |
| | Post-employment benefits | 123 | 85 |
| | Other long-term benefits | 33 | 23 |
| | Share-based payments | 150 | 107 |
| | | 2,916 | 2,200 |
| | | | |

18 Events occurring after the balance sheet date

34p16(h) Details of the interim dividend proposed are given in Note 13.

On 2 August 2008 there was severe flooding in one of the group's major Eastern European swimwear factories. Refurbishment costs are expected to exceed the insurance claim payout by €900.

19 Seasonality

34p16(b) The retail sales for swimwear and diving equipment are subject to seasonal fluctuations¹, with peak demand in the second and third quarters of the year. This is due to seasonal weather conditions and holiday periods. For the six months ended 30 June 2008, the level of retail sales represented 59% (six months ended 30 June 2007: 37%) of the annual level of retail sales for swimwear and diving equipment in the year ended 31 December 2007.

¹ For an entity whose business is highly seasonal, IAS 34 encourages (but does not require) the reporting of financial information for the twelve months ending on the interim reporting date, with comparatives, [IAS 34 para 21].

Appendix - IFRS 8, 'Operating segments'

IFRS 8, 'Operating segments', includes consequential amendments to IAS 34. Both are effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 and early adoption is allowed. If Swimodele were to have adopted IFRS 8 early in the year to 31 December 2008, the following disclosures would have been required in the interim report to 30 June 2008:

3 Accounting policies (extract)

Change in accounting policy

34p16(a) The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations although not yet effective have been early adopted in the financial year beginning 1 January 2008:

■ IFRS 8, 'Operating segments', effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14, 'Segment reporting', and requires a 'management approach' under which segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. This has resulted in an increase in the number of reportable segments presented, as the previously reported swimwear segment has been split into swimwear Eurozone, swimwear UK and swimwear other segments.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the steering committee that makes strategic decisions.

Goodwill is allocated by management to groups of cash-generating units on a segment level. Goodwill relating to a previous acquisition within the diving products segment remains in that segment. Goodwill relating to the acquisition of Chanoos Ltd in the period has been allocated to the swimwear Eurozone segment. The change in reportable segments has not resulted in any additional goodwill impairment. There has been no further impact on the measurement of the company's assets and liabilities. Comparatives for 2007 have been restated.

34p16 (g)(v)

4 Segment information

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the strategic steering committee that are used to make strategic decisions. The committee considers the business principally from a product perspective, with the major product area, swimwear, being further evaluated on a geographic basis (eurozone, UK and other). The segments derive their revenue primarily from the manufacture and sale of swimwear, diving products and swimming pool equipment respectively. Included in the 'other' category are amounts related to sales of footwear; these amounts are not included in reports provided to the strategic steering committee.

34p16 (g)(iii) The strategic steering committee assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of adjusted EBITDA. This measurement basis excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure from the operating segments such as restructuring costs, legal expenses and impairments when the impairment is the result of an isolated, non-recurring event. Interest income and expenditure are not allocated to segments, as this type of activity is managed on a central group basis. Other information provided to the strategic steering committee is measured in a manner consistent with that in the financial statements.

34p16 (g)(iv) Total assets are allocated to segments based on the operations of the segment and the physical location of the asset. Corporate unallocated assets comprise deferred tax assets

and available-for-sale financial assets, both of which are managed on a central group basis.

34p16 A reconciliation of total adjusted EBITDA to total profit before income tax and (g)(vi) discontinued operations is provided as follows:

| | 30 June | 30 June |
|--|---------|---------|
| | 2008 | 2007 |
| Adjusted EBITDA | 17,221 | 13,945 |
| Depreciation | (8,422) | (6,318) |
| Amortisation | (293) | (182) |
| Impairments | (1,300) | (1,700) |
| Inventory write-downs | (730) | _ |
| Restructuring costs | _ | (1,200) |
| Legal claims | (1,279) | _ |
| Operating profit | 5,197 | 4,545 |
| Finance income | 1 | 1 |
| Finance costs | (799) | (609) |
| Share of post tax profits of associates | 145 | 55 |
| Profit before income tax and discontinued operations | 4,564 | 3,992 |

Total

| | | | | | | | iotai | | | |
|---|----------|-------|-------|----------|----------|-----------------|------------|-------------------------|-------------|---------|
| | | | | | Swimming | rimming pool | Total | discontinued operations | | |
| | | | | | pool | | | | | |
| | Swimwear | | | Diving | equip- | | continuing | (beach | Corporate | Total |
| Six months ended 30 June 2008 | eurozone | UK | Other | products | ment | Other | operations | accessories) | unallocated | group |
| Total segment revenue Inter-segment | 10,984 | 4,731 | 1,183 | 11,275 | 4,655 | 250 | 33,078 | 4,200 | - | 37,278 |
| revenue | (978) | - | _ | _ | _ | - | (978) | _ | _ | (978 |
| Revenue (from external | 40.000 | 4 704 | 4 400 | 44.075 | 4.055 | 250 | 22.400 | 4 200 | | 20, 200 |
| customers) ¹ | 10,006 | 4,731 | 1,183 | 11,275 | 4,655 | 250 | 32,100 | 4,200 | | 36,300 |
| Adjusted EBITDA ² | 5,185 | 2,190 | 413 | 4,724 | 4,911 | 117 | 17,540 | 268 | (319) | 17,489 |
| Six months ended 30 June 2007 Total segment | | | | | | | | | | |
| revenue | 12,866 | 4,711 | 544 | 8,949 | 3,500 | 510 | 31,080 | 3,100 | _ | 34,180 |
| Inter-segment revenue | (906) | _ | _ | _ | _ | _ | (906) | _ | _ | (906 |
| Revenue (from external customers) | 11,960 | 4,711 | 544 | 8,949 | 3,500 | 510 | 30,174 | 3,100 | - | 33,274 |
| Adjusted EBITDA | 6,610 | 2,464 | 316 | 2,923 | 1,771 | 111 | 14,195 | 326 | (250) | 14,271 |
| Total assets ³ | | | | | | | | | | |
| 30 June 2008 | 15,770 | 6,030 | 928 | 17.162 | 6.030 | 464 | 46.383 | 1.400 | 4.357 | 52,140 |
| 31 December 2007 | 14,506 | 5,496 | | 14,792 | 8,261 | 631 | 45,019 | -, | | 49,095 |
| 30 June 2007 | 14,167 | 5,472 | 839 | 12,763 | 8,574 | 658 | 42,473 | _ | 4,273 | 46,746 |

¹ Revenues from external customers and intersegment revenues should be disclosed if included in the measure of segment profit or loss reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker or otherwise regularly provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
² The measure of segment profit or loss provided to the chief operating decision-maker is 'adjusted EBITDA', and hence

² The measure of segment profit or loss provided to the chief operating decision-maker is 'adjusted EBITDA', and hence a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to the entity's profit or loss before tax and discontinued operations has been given.

The group was involved in two major transactions in March 2008:

- sale of beach accessories division (see Note 14); and
- acquisition of a new subsidiary, Chanoos Ltd, which operates retailing networks for swimwear (see Note 15). The goodwill is attributable to the swimwear UK segment.

Auditors' review report - ISRE 2410

ISRE 2410

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Address
Country
Telephone
Facsimile

Report on review of interim financial information to Swimodele plc

Introduction

We have reviewed the accompanying balance sheet of Swimodele Group as of 30 June 2008 and the related statements of income, changes in equity and cash flows for the sixmonth period then ended. Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of this condensed consolidated interim financial information in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34, 'Interim financial reporting'. Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on this interim financial information based on our review.

Scope of review

We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements 2410, 'Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity'. A review of interim financial information consists of making enquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

Conclusion

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the accompanying condensed consolidated interim financial information is not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Chartered Accountants [Location] [Date]

Notes:

- (a) The format of the report will need to be tailored to reflect the legal framework of particular countries. In some countries, there is no requirement for auditors to report on interim financial information.
- (b) For reports issued on companies in the European Union, a different wording may be more appropriate, such as 'in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union applicable to interim financial reporting (IAS 34)'.

This disclosure checklist outlines the minimum disclosures required by IAS 34, 'Interim financial reporting', and other International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) published by the IASB up to and including March 2008 insofar as they affect interim reports.

When preparing interim reports, consideration should be given to whether disclosure of the minimum information required by IAS 34 is sufficient for the purposes of communication with investors. Additional IFRS compliant information should be included when the information is necessary to help explain the current interim period's performance.

This checklist is intended for general reference purposes only; it is not a substitute for reading the standards and interpretations themselves, or for professional judgement as to the fairness of presentation. Further specific information may be required in order to ensure fair presentation under IFRS depending on the circumstances.

This disclosure checklist does not deal with the measurement requirements of IFRS; a thorough understanding of international standards and interpretations that are relevant to the reporting entity's circumstances will be necessary. This checklist is presented in a format designed to facilitate the collection and review of disclosures for each component of the interim report. All disclosures have been grouped by subject, where appropriate. The references in the left-hand margin of the checklist refer to the paragraphs of the standards in which the disclosure requirements appear. Additional notes and explanations in the checklist are shown in *italics*.

The boxes in the right-hand margin of each page are designed to assist in completing the checklist. In the left-hand box (headed 'Y-NA-NM') one of the following should be entered for each disclosure item:

- Y ('Yes') the appropriate disclosure has been made;
- NA ('Not applicable') the item does not apply to the reporting entity; or
- NM ('Not material') the item is regarded as not material to the interim report of the reporting entity.

Materiality is defined in IAS 1 paragraph 11, and in paragraphs 29 and 30 of the IASB's 'Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements'. Omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could, individually or collectively, influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. Materiality depends on the size or nature of the item. IAS 1 paragraph 31 states that a specific disclosure requirement in a standard or an interpretation need not be satisfied if the information is not material. IAS 34 paragraph 23 requires that materiality, for the purpose of preparing the interim financial report, is assessed in relation to the results of the interim period and not in relation to the annual results.

The right-hand box on each page (headed 'Ref') can be used to insert a reference to the relevant part of the financial statements (such as 'Note 7') for all items that have been marked 'Y' in the left-hand box.

| | | Y-NA-NM | Ref |
|--------------------------------|--|---------|-----|
| General | | | |
| IAS 34 paras 6, 7, 9, 10 | An entity should publish in its interim report either: | | |
| | (a) a complete set of financial statements (described in IAS 1); or | | |
| | (b) a set of condensed financial statements (described in IAS 34). | | |
| | Notes: | | |
| | (a) If a complete set of financial statements is published in the interim report, the form and content of those statements should conform to the requirements of IAS 1 for a complete set of financial statements. All disclosures required by IAS 34 as well as all those required by other standards should be included. Refer to PricewaterhouseCoopers' 'IFRS Disclosure Checklist'. | | |
| | (b) If a condensed set of financial information is published in the interim report, as a minimum, disclosures required by IAS 34 should be included. Disclosures required by other IFRSs are not required for condensed interim financial information, except where they are material to an understanding of the current interim period. | | |
| IAS 34 para 14 | If the most recent annual financial statements were consolidated financial statements, is the interim report also prepared on a consolidated basis? | | |
| Income sta | tement | | |
| IAS 34 paras 8, 20 | Does the interim report include a condensed income statement prepared for the interim period and cumulatively for the current financial year to date if different? | | |
| IAS 34 para 10 | Does the condensed income statement include, at a minimum, each of the headings and subtotals that were included in the most recent annual financial statements? | | |
| IAS 34 para 10 | Does the condensed income statement include additional line items, without which the interim report would be misleading? | | |
| IAS 34 para 20 | Does the condensed income statement contain comparative information for the comparable interim periods (current period and financial year to date, if different) of the immediately preceding year? | | |
| IAS 34 para 11 | If IAS 33 is applicable, are basic and diluted earnings per share presented on the face of the condensed income statement? | | |
| Balance sh | eet | | |
| IAS 34 paras 8, 20 | Does the interim report include a condensed balance sheet prepared as at the end of the interim period? | | |
| IAS 34 para 10 | Does the condensed balance sheet include, at a minimum, each of the headings and subtotals that were included in the most recent annual financial statements? | | |
| IAS 34 para 10 | Does the condensed balance sheet include additional line items, without which the interim report would be misleading? | | |
| IAS 34 para 20 | Does the condensed balance sheet contain comparative information as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year? | | |

| | Y-NA-NM | Ref | |
|--|--|--|--|
| of changes in equity/ Statement of total recognised income a | nd expense | | |
| Does the interim report include either: | | | |
| (a) a condensed statement of changes in equity showing all changes in equity; or | | | |
| (b) a condensed statement of total recognised income and expense showing changes in equity other than those arising from capital transactions with owners and distributions to owners? | | | |
| Notes: | | | |
| of changes in equity as was followed in the most recent annual financial statements (that is, either a statement of changes in equity or a statement of recognised income and expenses with a reconciliation of opening and closing | | | |
| (b) A statement of total recognised income and expense must be used where actuarial gains and losses are recognised in equity as permitted by IAS 19. In this case a statement of changes in equity, if presented, must be relegated to the notes. | | | |
| total recognised income and expense include, at a minimum, | | | |
| Does the condensed statement of changes in equity/statement of recognised income and expense include additional line items, without which the interim report would be misleading? | | | |
| Is the condensed statement of changes in equity/statement of total recognised income and expense include prepared cumulatively for the financial year to date? | | | |
| | | | |
| statement | | | |
| Does the interim report include a condensed cash flow statement prepared cumulatively for the current financial year to date? | | | |
| Does the condensed cash flow statement include, at a minimum, each of the headings and subtotals that were included in the most recent annual financial statements? | | | |
| Does the condensed cash flow statement include additional line items, without which the interim report would be misleading? | | | |
| Does the condensed cash flow statement show comparative information for the comparable year-to-date period of the immediately preceding financial year? | | | |
| Explanatory notes | | | |
| access to the most recent annual financial statements. It is not | | | |
| | Does the interim report include either: (a) a condensed statement of changes in equity showing all changes in equity; or (b) a condensed statement of total recognised income and expense showing changes in equity other than those arising from capital transactions with owners and distributions to owners? Notes: (a) The same format should be followed in the interim statement of changes in equity as was followed in the most recent annual financial statements (that is, either a statement of changes in equity or a statement of recognised income and expenses with a reconciliation of opening and closing balances of share capital, reserves and accumulated profit in the notes). (b) A statement of total recognised income and expense must be used where actuarial gains and losses are recognised in equity as permitted by IAS 19. In this case a statement of changes in equity, if presented, must be relegated to the notes. Does the condensed statement of changes in equity/statement of total recognised income and expense include, at a minimum, each of the headings and subtotals that were included in the most recent annual financial statements? Does the condensed statement of changes in equity/statement of total recognised income and expense include additional line items, without which the interim report would be misleading? Is the condensed statement of changes in equity/statement of total recognised income and expense include prepared cumulatively for the financial year to date? Is a comparative statement of changes in equity/statement of total recognised income and expense for the comparable year-to-date period of the immediately preceding financial year included in the interim report? statement Does the interim report include a condensed cash flow statement prepared cumulatively for the current financial year included in the interim report condensed cash flow statement include, at a minimum, each of the headings and subtotals that were included in the most recent annual financial statements. In the most recent annu | of changes in equity/ Statement of total recognised income and expense Does the interim report include either: (a) a condensed statement of changes in equity showing all changes in equity; or (b) a condensed statement of total recognised income and expense showing changes in equity other than those arising from capital transactions with owners and distributions to owners? Notes: (a) The same format should be followed in the interim statement of changes in equity as was followed in the most recent annual financial statements (that is, either a statement of changes in equity or a statement of recognised income and expenses with a reconciliation of opening and closing balances of share capital, reserves and accumulated profit in the notes). (b) A statement of total recognised income and expense must be used where actuarial gains and losses are recognised in equity as permitted by IAS 19. In this case a statement of changes in equity, if presented, must be relegated to the notes. Does the condensed statement of changes in equity/statement of total recognised income and expense include, at a minimum, each of the headings and subtotals that were included in the most recent annual financial statements? Does the condensed statement of changes in equity/statement of total recognised income and expense include additional line items, without which the interim report would be misleading? Is the condensed statement of changes in equity/statement of total recognised income and expense include prepared cumulatively for the financial year to date? Is a comparative statement of changes in equity/statement of total recognised income and expense for the comparable year-to-date period of the immediately preceding financial year to date? Does the interim report include a condensed cash flow statement prepared cumulatively for the current financial year to date? Does the condensed cash flow statement include additional line items, without which the interim report would be misleading? Does the condensed cash flow stateme | |

| | | Y-NA-NM | Ref |
|---------------------------------|--|---------|-----|
| IAS 34 paras 6, 15 | Does the interim report focus on new activities, events and circumstances and provide explanations of events and transactions that are significant to an understanding of the changes in financial position and performance of the entity since the last annual reporting date? | | |
| IAS 34 paras 6, 15 | Does the interim report include a discussion of the effect of economic turbulence and market conditions, liquidity difficulties or any going concern issues, together with management's plans for addressing them? | | |
| IAS 34 paras 8, 19 | Does the interim report contain a basis of preparation paragraph that states clearly whether the interim report has been prepared in accordance with IAS 34? | | |
| IAS 34 para 19 | Note: An interim report should not be described as complying with IFRS unless it complies with all the requirements of each applicable standard and each applicable IFRIC interpretation. | | |
| IAS 34 para 16(a) | Does the interim report contain a statement that the same accounting policies, methods of computation and presentation have been followed in its preparation as were applied in the most recent annual financial statements; or, if those policies, methods or presentation have been changed, include a description of the nature and effect of the change? | | |
| IAS 34 para 43 | Note: A change in accounting policy, other than one for which the transition is specified by a new Standard or Interpretation should be effected by restating the comparative information presented in the interim report in accordance with IAS 8. | | |
| IAS 34 para 16(b) | Does the interim report contain explanatory comments about the seasonality or cyclicality of interim operations? | | |
| IAS 34 para 21 | Note: Financial information for the 12 months ending on the interim reporting date and comparative information for the prior 12-month period may be useful for an entity whose business is highly seasonal. Such entities are encouraged to consider reporting such information in addition to the information required by IAS 34 para 20. | | |
| IAS 34 para 16(c) | Does the interim report contain the nature and amount of items occurring in the financial year-to-date affecting assets, liabilities, equity, net income, or cash flows that are unusual because of their nature, size, or incidence? | | |
| IAS 34 para 17(d) | Does the interim report contain details of any property, plant and equipment acquired or disposed of during the financial year to date? | | |
| IAS 34 para 17(e) | Does the interim report contain details of any commitments to purchase property, plant and equipment after the end of the interim period? | | |
| IAS 34 para 16(d) | Does the interim report contain the nature and amount of changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior interim periods of the current year, or in prior years, if those changes have a material effect in the current interim period (for example, changes in estimates relating to inventory write-downs, impairment losses, provision re-estimates etc)? | | |
| IAS 34 paras 16(j), 17(f) | Does the interim report contain details of changes in contingent liabilities and contingent assets, including litigation settlements, since the last annual balance sheet date? | | |
| IAS 34 para 17(i) | Does the interim report contain details of any loan default or breach of a loan agreement since the last annual balance sheet date that has not been remedied on or before the end of the interim period? | | |

| | | Y-NA-NM | Ref |
|---------------------------|--|---------|-----|
| IAS 34 para 16(e) | Does the interim report contain details of issuances, repurchases, and repayments of debt and equity securities since the last annual balance sheet date? | | |
| IAS 34 para 16(f) | Does the interim report contain details of dividends paid (aggregate or per share), separately for ordinary shares and other shares during the financial year to date? | | |
| IAS 34 para 16(h) | Does the interim report contain details of material events subsequent to the end of the interim period that have not been reflected in the interim financial statements? | | |
| IAS 34 para 16(i) | Does the interim report detail the effect of changes in the composition of the entity during the interim period (for example, business combinations, acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and long-term investments, restructurings and discontinued operations)? | | |
| IAS 34 para 17(g) | Does the interim report contain details of the correction of prior period errors (as defined in IAS 8)? | | |
| IAS 34 para 17(j) | Does the interim report contain details of related-party transactions (as defined in IAS 24) for the financial year-to-date? | | |
| IAS 34 para 16 | Does the interim report contain details of any other events or transactions that are material to an understanding of the current interim period? | | |
| Segment in | formation | | |
| IAS 34 para 16(g) | Where IAS 14 applies, does the interim report contain segment revenue and segment result for the financial year-to-date for segments in primary segment format? | | |
| | Where IFRS 8 applies, does the interim report contain: | | |
| IAS 34 para 16(g)(i) | Revenues from external customers, if included in the measure of segment profit or loss provided to the chief operating decision maker? | | |
| IAS 34 para 16(g)(ii) | Intersegment revenues, if included in the measure of segment profit or loss provided to the chief operating decision maker? | | |
| IAS 34 para 16(g)(iii) | ■ A measure of segment profit or loss? | | |
| IAS 34 para 16(g)(iv) | Total assets for which there has been a material change from the amount disclosed in the last annual financial statements? | | |
| IAS 34 para 16(g)(v) | A description of the differences from the last annual financial statements in the basis of segmentation or in the basis of measurement of segment profit or loss? | | |
| IAS 34 para 16(g)(vi) | A reconciliation of the total of the segments' profit or loss to the entity's profit or loss before tax and discontinued operations, with material reconciling items separately identified and described? | | |
| | Notes: | | |
| | (a) IFRS 8 and its consequential amendments to IAS 34 are effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. Early adoption is permitted. | | |
| IFRS 8 para 29 | (b) If an entity changes the structure of its internal organisation such that the composition of its reportable segments change, the corresponding information for earlier periods, including interim periods, should be restated unless the information is not available and the cost to develop it would be excessive. | | |
| IFRS 8 para 30 | (c) Following a change in reportable segments, an entity should disclose whether it has restated the corresponding amounts. If corresponding amounts are not restated, the entity shall | | |

| | | Y-NA-NM | Ref |
|--|--|---------|-----|
| | disclose current period segment information on both the old and new bases, unless the information is not available and the cost to develop it would be excessive. | | |
| Business c | ombinations | | |
| IAS 34 para 16(i), IFRS 3 para 66 | Where the reporting entity has executed a business combination during the period covered by the interim report the following disclosures are required in the interim report. | | |
| IFRS 3 para 71 | Where the reporting entity has executed a business combination after the interim balance sheet date but before the interim report is authorised for issue, the same disclosures are required, unless such disclosures would be impracticable, in which case that fact and the reason why should be disclosed. | | |
| IFRS 3 paras 67, 71 | For each business combination (or in aggregate if each is individually immaterial) are the following details disclosed? | | |
| | ■ The names and descriptions of the combining entities or businesses. | | |
| | ■ The acquisition date. | | |
| | ■ The percentage of voting equity instruments acquired. | | |
| | ■ The cost of the combination and a description of the components of that cost, including any costs directly attributable to the combination. | | |
| | When equity instruments are issued or issuable as part of the cost, the number of equity instruments issued or issuable, the fair value of those instruments and the basis for determining that fair value. | | |
| | Note: If a published price does not exist for the instruments at the date of exchange, the significant assumptions used to determine fair value shall be disclosed. If a published price exists at the date of exchange but was not used as the basis for determining the cost of the combination, that fact shall be disclosed together with: the reasons the published price was not used; the method and significant assumptions used to attribute a value to the equity instruments; and the aggregate amount of the difference between the value attributed to, and the published price of, the equity instruments. | | |
| | Details of any operations the entity has decided to dispose of as a result of the combination. | | |
| | The amounts recognised at the acquisition date for each class of the acquiree's assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, and, unless disclosure would be impracticable, the carrying amounts of each of those classes, determined in accordance with IFRSs, immediately before the combination. | | |
| | Note: If such disclosure would be impracticable, that fact shall be disclosed, together with an explanation of why this is the case. | | |
| | The amount of any negative goodwill recognised in profit or loss and the line item in the income statement in which the negative goodwill is recognised. | | |
| | A description of the factors that contributed to a cost that results in the recognition of goodwill (that is, a description of each intangible asset that was not recognised separately from goodwill and an explanation of why the intangible asset's fair value could not be measured reliably) or a description of the nature of any negative goodwill recognised in profit or loss. | | |

| | | Y-NA-NM | Ref |
|--------------------------|---|---------|-----|
| | ■ The amount of the acquiree's profit or loss since the acquisition date included in the acquirer's profit or loss for the period, unless disclosure would be impracticable. | | |
| | Note: If such disclosure would be impracticable, that fact shall be disclosed, together with an explanation of why this is the case. | | |
| IFRS 3 para 69 | If the initial accounting for a business combination that was effected during the period was determined only provisionally, is that fact disclosed, together with an explanation of why this is the case? | | |
| IFRS 3 para 70 | Are the revenue and profit or loss of the combined entity for the period as though the acquisition date for all business combinations effected during the period had been the beginning of that period disclosed? | | |
| | Note: If disclosure of this information would be impracticable, that fact shall be disclosed, together with an explanation of why this is the case. | | |
| IFRS 3 paras 72, 73 | Are the following details disclosed in order to enable users of the interim financial statements to evaluate the financial effects of gains, losses, error corrections and other adjustments recognised in the current period that relate to business combinations that were effected in the current or in previous periods? | | |
| | The amount and an explanation of any gain or loss recognised in the current period that relates to the identifiable assets acquired or liabilities or contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that was effected in the current or a previous period and is of such size, nature or incidence that disclosure is relevant to an understanding of the combined entity's financial performance. | | |
| | If the initial accounting for a business combination that took place in the immediately preceding period was determined only provisionally at the end of that period, the amounts and explanations of the adjustments to the provisional values recognised during the current period. | | |
| | ■ The information about error corrections required to be disclosed by IAS 8 for any of the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities or contingent liabilities, or changes in the values assigned to those items that the acquirer recognises during the current period in accordance with IFRS 3 paras 63 and 64. | | |
| First time a | doption of IFRS | | |
| | If an entity presents an interim report under IAS 34 for part of the period covered by its first IFRS financial statements, the following disclosures are required. | | |
| IFRS 1 para 45(a)(i) | Is a reconciliation of the entity's equity under previous GAAP at the end of the comparable interim period in the immediately preceding financial year to its equity under IFRSs at that date disclosed? | | |
| IFRS 1 para 45(a)(ii) | Is a reconciliation of the entity's profit and loss under previous GAAP for the comparable interim periods (current period and year-to-date) in the immediately preceding financial year to its profit and loss under IFRSs for those periods disclosed? | | |
| IFRS 1 para 39(a) | Are reconciliations of the entity's equity reported under previous GAAP to its equity under IFRSs at the date of transition to IFRSs and the end of the latest period presented in the entity's most recent annual financial statements under previous GAAP disclosed? | | |

| | | Y-NA-NM | Ref |
|----------------------|---|---------|-----|
| IFRS 1 para 39(b) | Is a reconciliation of the entity's profit or loss for the latest period in the entity's most recent annual financial statements reported under previous GAAP to its profit or loss under IFRS disclosed? | | |
| IFRS 1 para 40 | Is an explanation of the material adjustments to the cash flow statement included in the last set of previous GAAP financial statements, resulting from adoption of IFRSs disclosed? | | |
| | Notes: | | |
| | (a) If an entity becomes aware of errors made in previous GAAP published information, the reconciliations outlined above shall distinguish the correction of those errors from changes in accounting policies. | | |
| | (b) If the annual reconciliations have been included in previously published information, the interim report may refer to that information and need not reproduce the reconciliations in full. | | |
| Auditor inv | olvement | | • |
| ISRE 2410 | Where local legislation requires it, or where the entity has engaged the auditor to perform a review, has an appropriate auditors' interim review report been included in the interim report? | | |

PricewaterhouseCoopers' IFRS and corporate governance publications and tools 2008

IFRS surveys

Presentation of income measures

Trends in use and presentation of non-GAAP income measures in IFRS financial statements.

IFRS: The European investors' view

Impact of IFRS reporting on fund managers' perceptions of value and their investment decisions.

Business review - has it made a difference?

Survey of the FTSE 350 companies' narrative reporting practices. Relevant globally to companies seeking to benchmark against large UK companies.

IFRS market issues

IFRS 7: Ready or not

Key issues and disclosure requirements.

IFRS 7: Potential impact of market risks

Examples of how market risks can be calculated.

IFRS transition case studies

Companies in several industries share their experiences in making the change to IFRS. Orders for these flyers should be placed at global.ifrs.publications@uk.pwc.com



IFRS for SMEs - Is it relevant for your business?

It outlines why some unlisted SMEs have already made the change to IFRS and illustrates what might be involved in a conversion process.



Making the change to IFRS

This 12-page brochure provides a high-level overview of the key issues that companies need to consider in making the change to IFRS.

Corporate governance publications



Audit Committees -**Good Practices for** Meeting

Market Expectations Provides PwC views on good practice and summarises audit committee requirements in over 40 countries.



World Watch magazine

Global magazine with news and opinion articles on the latest developments and trends in governance, financial reporting, broader reporting and assurance.



Building the European Capital Market -

A review of developments -January 2007

This fourth edition includes the key EU developments on IFRS, the Prospectus and Transparency Directives, and corporate governance. It also summarises the Commission's single market priorities for the next five years.

To order copies of any of these publications, contact your local PricewaterhouseCoopers office or visit www.cch.co.uk/ifrsbooks

IFRS tools



Comperio

Your path to knowledge



Online library of financial reporting and assurance literature. Provides the full text of IASB literature as well as ISAs, International Auditing Practice Statements and IPSAS. Also contains PwC's IFRS and corporate governance publications, and Applying IFRS. For more information, visit www.pwc.com/comperio

About PricewaterhouseCoopers

PricewaterhouseCoopers (www.pwc.com) is the world's largest professional services organisation. Drawing on the knowledge and skills of more than 146,000 people in 150 countries, we build relationships by providing services based on quality and integrity.

Contacting PricewaterhouseCoopers

Please contact your local PricewaterhouseCoopers office to discuss how we can help you make the change to International Financial Reporting Standards or with technical queries. See inside front cover for further details of IFRS products and services

© 2008 PricewaterhouseCoopers. All rights reserved. PricewaterhouseCoopers refers to the network of member firms of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited, each of which is a separate and independent legal entity.



www.pwc.com/ifrs

Illustrative interim financial information for existing IFRS preparers

Although there is no requirement under IFRS for entities to publish interim financial reports, a number of territories around the world either require or recommend their publication, often stipulating that they should be prepared in accordance with IFRS.

This practical guide to applying IAS 34, 'Interim financial reporting' reflects standards issued up to 31 March 2008. It provides an illustrative set of condensed interim financial information prepared in accordance with IAS 34 for a fictional manufacturing and retail group. It also contains a disclosure checklist and an overview of IAS 34.



